STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID RICHARD WALKER, JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000550

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUL 24 2018
SC Court of Appeals

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether appellant's statements to police that he had an outstanding warrant for murder were admitted in violation of appellant's Fifth Amendment rights because police failed to give appellant his Miranda¹ warnings and their seizure of appellant and questioning amounted to custodial interrogation?

¹ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2015, a Lexington County grand jury indicted appellant David Richard Walker, Jr. for murder. R. 1196 – 1197. On February 21, 2017, appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. R. 1. D. Shawn Graham and Shannon Davis represented the State. R. 1. Appellant represented himself. R. 1. Sarah Mauldin served as standby counsel. R. 1. The jury convicted appellant. R. 1162, ll. 8 – 14. Judge McMahon sentenced appellant to fifty years' imprisonment. R. 1195, ll. 9 – 14. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

Appellant's statements to police that he had an outstanding warrant for murder were admitted in violation of appellant's Fifth Amendment rights because police failed to give appellant his *Miranda* warnings and their seizure of appellant and questioning amounted to custodial interrogation.

Factual and Procedural Background

Introduction

The State tried appellant for the murder of his girlfriend in West Columbia. Appellant represented himself. The State's case rested chiefly on the fact that appellant lived at the residence where the body was found and the pathologist's opinion that the victim was strangled. The State also relied on appellant's incriminating statement to police that he was wanted for murder when they encountered him days later in Aiken. Appellant's statement was improperly admitted and this Court should reverse.

Appellant's Statements

Appellant's nighttime encounter with the police that is the subject of this appeal was recorded by law enforcement's dashboard camera. R. 350, ll. 9 – 21. (State's Ex. 2). The camera activates as the police drive through a dark neighborhood. (State's Ex. 2). They turn on their lights as they enter the parking lot of a closed mom-and-pop grocery store. (State's Ex. 2). Appellant is sitting alone at a picnic table underneath a metal, open-air shed. (State's Ex. 2). He stands up when the police cruiser comes to a stop. (State's Ex. 2).

Officer Darrell Kostyk ("Kostyk") asks appellant as he walks slowly forward, "What are you doing, guy?" (State's Ex. 2). Appellant continues to amble forward and then places his

hands behind his back, as if to be handcuffed. (State's Ex. 2). Officer Kostyk motions for him to turn around. (State's Ex. 2).

Officer Kostyk takes appellant's hands from behind his back and brings them perpendicular to appellant's sides. (State's Ex. 2). He pats down appellant and feels his pockets through his clothes. (State's Ex. 2). He asks an unintelligible question. (State's Ex. 2). He then asks if appellant has any identification. (State's Ex. 2). A second officer enters the scene and a dog barks in the background. (State's Ex. 2).

Reaching in appellant's back pocket, Officer Kostyk asks if appellant has a knife. (State's Ex. 2). He continues to search appellant and then asks his name. (State's Ex. 2). Appellant responds, "David Walker." (State's Ex. 2). Officer Kostyk asks him his birthday. (State's Ex. 2). Appellant answers. (State's Ex. 2). During this questioning, Officer Kostyk looms only a few inches behind the smaller appellant's back. (State's Ex. 2).

The officer then asks if appellant has any warrants. (State's Ex. 2). He did not hear appellant's response and says, "Hunh?" (State's Ex. 2). Appellant then responds that he probably has a warrant. (State's Ex. 2).

Officer Kostyk then directs appellant to the hood of the police car. (State's Ex. 2). He orders appellant to place his hands on the hood of the car and then tells appellant to keep backing up his feet until appellant's weight is mostly on his hands. (State's Ex. 2). Officer Kostyk testified at the Denno hearing that he wanted appellant "off balance for my safety at that point." R. 352, ll. 15 – 20. Appellant had difficulty following the officer's instructions. (State's Ex. 2).

Officer Kostyk then calls in appellant's name and birthday on his radio, asking appellant his birthday again while appellant is leaning against the car. (State's Ex. 2). Officer Kostyk then asks, "What do you think you got a warrant for, bud?" (State's Ex. 2). Appellant says, over his

shoulder, “Murder.” (State’s Ex. 2). Officer Kostyk says, “Hunh?” (State’s Ex. 2). Appellant repeats, “Murder.” (State’s Ex. 2).

Officer Kostyk says, “For murder? You done murdered somebody?” (State’s Ex. 2). Appellant says no, then the officer says, “No? Then why you think you got a murder warrant?” (State’s Ex. 2). Appellant’s response is hard to hear. (State’s Ex. 2). The officer responds, “You did murder somebody? Who did you murder?” (State’s Ex. 2). Appellant then says he wants to talk to a lawyer. (State’s Ex. 2). A third officer appears in the picture, they handcuff appellant and put him in the patrol car. (State’s Ex. 2).

During the Denno hearing, the solicitor told the court that the State only sought to admit the video and statements up until appellant’s request for an attorney. R. 363, ll. 10 – 23. The solicitor said, “**We acknowledge that he’s in custody** and we acknowledge when he says he wants a lawyer, that should probably end where it’s at.” R. 363, ll. 10 – 20 (emphasis added). The solicitor said, “Our intent was to use for direct evidence to the part where he’s asked about warrants and him saying murder warrants, and then for impeachment when he’s asked ‘did you murder somebody,’ and he says ‘for murder.’” R. 363, ll. 14 – 20.

Officer Kostyk explained at the Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing² that he was surveilling a convenience store that is frequently robbed when he noticed appellant at the adjacent grocery store. R. 347, ll. 4 – 15. The grocery store was closed and the officer said appellant “was concealing himself under an awning and he appeared to be watching the

² Judge McMahon heard pretrial testimony from Officer Kostyk about the circumstances surrounding appellant’s statements twice, first during an immunity hearing pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440, and again during the Denno hearing. R. 271, ll. 6 – 8 (officer called by appellant at immunity hearing). R. 345, ll. 4 – 10 (officer called by State during Denno hearing). Judge McMahon stated he would “take everything into account” when making his rulings on both issues and stated he would not rule on the immunity issue until deciding the admissibility of appellant’s statements. R. 154, l. 15 – 158, l. 23.

convenience store.” R. 347, ll. 8 – 15. Appellant’s behavior was “consistent with someone who was potentially going to rob a convenience store.” R. 275, ll. 11 – 15. After watching appellant “for a little while,” Officer Kostyk called for backup and said he was going to approach “the suspicious male and find out what he was doing.” R. 348, ll. 9 – 13.

After calling in appellant’s name and birthday, Officer Kostyk learned that appellant had no outstanding warrants, but was “listed as a missing person, endangered, listed as endangered and violent tendency, which isn’t a warrant by any means.” R. 354, ll. 10 – 22. They determined that the West Columbia police had “suspicions about him,” but there were no charges and Officer Kostyk “switched over to more of a civil mode of his mental well-being.” R. 354, l. 23 – 355, l. 12.

The officer never gave appellant Miranda warnings and his testimony indicates that he misunderstood when such warnings are required or when interrogation must cease. R. 279, l. 1 – 280, l. 18. Officer Kostyk repeatedly asserted that Miranda warnings are not required unless a suspect is “charged with a crime.” R. 279, ll. 9 – 25. R. 279, ll. 20 – 25. R. 280, ll. 8 – 21. The officer said, “I’m not charging any crime. I have no concern with Miranda, sir.” R. 279, ll. 20 – 25. The officer also incorrectly asserted that it was proper to continue to question a subject after they asserted their right to counsel. R. 279, ll. 1 – 8. In response to whether he would further question someone after they said they wanted an attorney, Officer Kostyk responded, “I certainly could if they are not under arrest.” R. 279, ll. 1 – 8. As shown above, the solicitor conceded such questioning was improper. R. 363, ll. 10 – 20. R. 543, ll. 8 – 13.

Officer Kostyk took appellant to a hospital in Aiken for a mental evaluation. R. 357, l. 17 – 358, l. 22. R. 429, ll. 9 – 25. The hospital released appellant and Officer Kostyk took appellant to a truck stop in Lexington County. R. 360, ll. 4 – 8. Officer James Kemfort from the

Lexington County Sheriff's Department met Officer Kostyk and appellant at the truck stop. R. 373, l. 20 – 374, l. 14. Officer Kemfort contacted the West Columbia Police Department who sent an investigator to the truck stop. R. 374, ll. 2 – 21. R. 388, ll. 19 – 24. The investigator took appellant to West Columbia. R. 390, l. 4 – 392, l. 24. After interrogating appellant, EMS took appellant to Richland Memorial. R. 406, l. 22 – 407, l. 3. Appellant's father then took appellant to MUSC. R. 406, l. 22 – 407, l. 3. After the police received the autopsy results for appellant's girlfriend, Carrie Banty ("Banty"), they arrested appellant for murder. R. 407, ll. 11 – 15.

Banty's Death and Appellant's Mental Health

On December 11, 2012, a neighbor found Banty dead in her mobile home after being led there by her child. R. 587, l. 16 – 593, l. 18. The neighbor called 911 and the police obtained a search warrant and investigated the scene. R. 592, ll. 11 – 25. R. 617, l. 6 – 25. Investigators saw no sign of forced entry. R. 619, ll. 3 – 13. Banty was found face down at the foot of a bed. R. 620, ll. 3 – 11. The police found appellant's ID in the master bedroom. R. 699, l. 4 – 700, l. 24.

The State's primary evidence against appellant was the testimony of pathologist Dr. Janice Ross who testified that Banty was strangled. R. 1029, l. 15 – 1030, l. 7. She found petechia in Banty's eyes and bruising around her collarbones. R. 1026, l. 2 – 1027, l. 9. The toxicology report was negative. R. 1017, ll. 11 – 16.

Appellant testified at the immunity hearing, but not at trial. R. 18, l. 6 – 19, l. 23. Appellant was at home when Banty returned with their daughter. R. 20, l. 15 – 21, l. 21. Appellant saw Banty abusing their daughter in the car and the abuse continued in the house and in the yard. R. 20, l. 17 – 50, l. 21. Banty threatened to kill both appellant and their daughter.

R. 20, l. 17 – 50, l. 21. Appellant defended himself and his daughter from Banty's attacks, eventually choking her in self-defense. R. 20, l. 17 – 50, l. 21.

When appellant realized Banty was dead, he briefly lost consciousness and then wandered into the woods near a train track. R. 50, l. 22 – 64, l. 15. Appellant hopped a train and got off in Graniteville. R. 50, l. 22 – 64, l. 15. After wandering around Aiken County, appellant eventually encountered Officer Kostyk as described above. R. 50, l. 22 – 64, l. 15. Judge McMahon denied immunity and the case proceeded to trial.³ R. 545, ll. 7 – 14.

Throughout the trial and at sentencing, Judge McMahon heard extensive testimony regarding appellant's mental health and his competency to stand trial, finding appellant competent each time. R. 5, l. 1 – 10, l. 11. R. 210, l. 21 – 246, l. 23. R. 835, l. 4 – 848, l. 7. R. 854, l. 4 – 892, l. 9. R. 1175, l. 19 – 1185, l. 4. Dr. Donna Schwartz Maddox repeatedly testified that appellant suffered from severe mental illness, but that he was competent to stand trial. R. 5, l. 1 – 10, l. 11. R. 210, l. 21 – 246, l. 23. R. 835, l. 4 – 848, l. 7. R. 854, l. 4 – 892, l. 9. Judge McMahon also relied on a pre-trial finding of competence by Judge Eugene C. Griffith. R. 12, l. 16 – 13, l. 6.

Dr. Maddox presented the most concise history of appellant's mental health at sentencing. R. 1175, l. 19 – 1185, l. 4. Appellant had been hospitalized because of his mental illness repeatedly since 2002. R. 1175, l. 19 – 1185, l. 4. He is schizophrenic and had at least one episode of catatonia, which Dr. Maddox said was "very rare" and "associated with very regressed schizophrenia." R. 1175, l. 19 – 1185, l. 4. In the time leading up to Banty's death, Appellant was taking Clorazil, which Dr. Maddox said is reserved "for the most severe forms of schizophrenia." R. 1175, l. 19 – 1185, l. 4. On the night before Banty's death, Banty took

³ Appellant did not testify at trial.

appellant to Lexington Medical Center because of concerns about his mental health. R. 1179, l. 16 – 1185, l. 4. The staff at the emergency room was so concerned about appellant, they contacted the on-call psychiatrist twice, but appellant was ultimately not committed. R. 1179, l. 16 – 1185, l. 4. The emergency room offered appellant a shot that would have organized his thinking, but he refused. R. 1179, l. 16 – 1185, l. 4. When Judge McMahon found appellant competent to represent himself, he followed State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 753 S.E.2d 545 (2014), in which the Supreme Court had reversed Judge McMahon for applying a higher standard for competence for a criminal defendant to represent himself than the standard from Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). R. 869, l. 20 – 871, l. 9. R. 891, l. 1 – 892, l. 10.

The Trial Court's Ruling Admitting Appellant's Statements

The trial court first commented on the admissibility of appellant's statements to Officer Kostyk during the immunity hearing. R. 280, l. 8 – 281, l. 23. Appellant asked whether the officer considered his detention outside the convenience store a Terry⁴ stop and the officer replied, "Absolutely." R. 279, ll. 14 – 17. Appellant then asked whether the police should give Miranda warnings during a Terry stop and Officer Kostyk replied that he did not have to give Miranda warnings unless he charged somebody with a crime. R. 279, ll. 20 – 23.

The trial judge interrupted appellant's questioning and said, "Miranda applies to . . . custodial interrogation. It's at least those two prongs. Taken into custody does not trigger Miranda. It's interrogation." R. 281, ll. 2 – 8. Appellant tried to cite a case on custody and Judge McMahon recited the facts of Terry, concluding by saying, "this is classic. This officer is observing." R. 281, ll. 9 – 23.

⁴ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)

After testimony was complete, the court heard argument on the admissibility of appellant's statements to Officer Kostyk. R. 513, l. 7 – 537, l. 8. The solicitor argued that Miranda was not required because Officer Kostyk only had appellant in “investigative detention.” R. 513, ll. 9 – 12. The State asserted that the encounter was not a custodial interrogation and added, “Although he may be detained, he’s not being interrogated. That’s a routine question.” R. 513, ll. 13 – 19. The solicitor claimed the officer’s questions were only administrative. R. 513, l. 20 – 515, l. 8.

However, the solicitor then admitted that appellant was in custody when he asked for a lawyer. R. 514, l. 23 – 515, l. 8. The solicitor conceded:

Once past that, Your Honor, he’s placed into handcuffs at that point, and we move into the next question, which is something like you, you’ve murdered somebody, and the testimony from Sergeant Kostyk is yes.

The State would claim that that is an impeachable, that it would not be used in its case in chief, but would be used in impeachment purposes cause his response is you murdered somebody and the answer was yes. And then it’s I said yes, sir.

Past that point, Your Honor, he quickly asked for a lawyer and we agree that he’s in custody and he’s asked, he’s invoked his rights. Although there could be a question of voluntariness after that point, there’s nothing the State wants to use.

R. 514, l. 14 – 515, l. 2 (emphasis added). Appellant argued that he was in custody and should have been read his Miranda rights, rendering his statement inadmissible. R. 519, l. 23 – 531, l. 17.

The trial judge ruled Officer Kostyk conducted a valid Terry stop. R. 538, ll. 6 – 12. The court found that “at no time during the period of time at which certain identifying information was given and questions were asked to Mr. Walker by the Aiken deputy was Mr. Walker in custody.” R. 538, ll. 13 – 22. Judge McMahon found that the officers treated Mr. Walker

respectfully and that he “barely has his hands on him” when appellant had his hands on the front of the patrol car. R. 538, l. 23 – 539, l. 24. The court then addressed whether the remainder of appellant’s statements could be used for impeachment and found all of the statements were “admissible in the case in chief.” R. 539, l. 20 – 543, l. 18. Appellant contemporaneously objected when the State introduced the statements during the trial. R. 938, l. 23 – 940, l. 14.

Discussion

The trial judge erred in admitting appellant’s statements because he was in custody and Miranda was required. Miranda defined “custodial interrogation” as “questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.” Miranda, 468 U.S. at 444. The question of whether Miranda is required during a Terry stop is controversial. See Luis Then, Note, Applying the ‘Cuffs: Consistency and Clarity in a Bright-Line Rule for Arrest-Like Restraints Under Miranda Custody, 42 Fla. St. U. L. Rev. 843 (Spring 2015) (advocating courts require Miranda warnings when a Terry stop rises to the level of arrest-like detention because of the ease of applying such a rule for law enforcement and trial judges); Eugene L. Shapiro, Miranda Warnings and Terry Stops: Another Perspective, 15 Barry L. Rev. 1 (Fall 2010) (noting that the federal circuit courts are divided on the issue); Mark A. Godsey, When Terry Met Miranda: Two Constitutional Doctrines Collide, 63 Fordham L. Rev. 715 (Dec. 1994) (concluding that the expansion of the police’s ability to use force during Terry stops undermined the old rule that Miranda did not apply). Because Miranda applies when a suspect is in custody, a categorical rule that Miranda can never be implicated in a Terry stop is illogical. Instead, a court should examine police questioning on a case-by-case basis. Here, the trial court erroneously assumed that Terry stops

cannot trigger Miranda, which led to the incorrect finding that appellant was not in custody—even though the State conceded appellant was in custody when he asked for an attorney.

As the above-cited law review articles explain, much of the incongruence between Miranda custody and Terry stops arises from the United States Supreme Court's decision in Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 (1984). Like many of the cases holding Miranda does not apply to Terry encounters, Berkemer began with a traffic stop. Berkemer, 468 U.S. at 422-23. A police officer saw the defendant's car weaving, followed him for two miles, stopped him, and directed the defendant to get out of his car. Id. at 423. The defendant was obviously intoxicated. Id. In response to the officer's questioning, the defendant said he drank two beers and smoked marijuana. Id. The officer arrested the defendant and he made further incriminating statements at the jail. Id. at 423-24. At no point did the police give him Miranda warnings. Id. at 424.

The Court first rejected the argument that Miranda should not apply to misdemeanor arrests. Id. at 429-34. After rejecting this argument, the Court concluded that the defendant's post-arrest statements at the jail were inadmissible. Id. at 434-35.

The Court then turned to the more difficult question of the admissibility of the defendant's statements during the traffic stop. Id. at 435-42. Distinguishing traffic stops from "stationhouse interrogation," the Court found that roadside detentions are brief, public, and motorists do not feel "completely at the mercy of the police." Id. The Court then analogized "the usual traffic stop" to a Terry stop. Id. at 439-40. With the notion of a brief, limited Terry stop in mind, the Court wrote, "The comparatively nonthreatening character of detentions of this sort explains the absences of any suggestion in our opinions that Terry stops are subject to the dictates of Miranda." Id. at 440. The holding found that motorists detained in "ordinary" traffic stops were not in custody pursuant to Miranda. Id.

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