**ORIGINAL**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**RECEIVED**

**JUL 19 2018**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**DAVID RICHARD WALKER, JR.,**

**Appellant,**

**Appellate Case No. 2017-000550.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**CAROLINE SCRANTOM  
Assistant Attorney General**

**Office of Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. If found preserved for review, the record supports the trial court’s admission of the in-car video of Aiken Deputy Kostyk’s initial interactions with Appellant because the *Denno* record established that Kostyk lawfully engaged Appellant in a Terry stop supported by articulable facts amounting to reasonable suspicion, where Appellant appeared to Kostyk to be casing a convenience store, where Appellant approached Kostyk with his hands behind his back before verbally responding to Kostyk, and where Appellant then stated he believed he had an outstanding warrant for murder.**

### *A. Introduction*

This issue before this Court is limited to the admissibility of the in-car video of Aiken County Sheriff’s Deputy Kostyk. The video clip is nearly 3 minutes long. (State’s Exhibit 45). Testimony on this issue was presented at various points pre-trial. Appellant sought an immunity hearing at which he testified on his own behalf and addressed his impression of his interaction with Kostyk. (R. p. 53, lines 11-20; R. p. 129, line 2 – p. 139, line 18). Appellant also called Kostyk to testify at the immunity hearing and asked him questions concerning the Terry stop at

issue on appeal. (R. p. 271, line 6 – p. 285, line 25). Later, the State initiated a *Denno*<sup>7</sup> hearing during which Kostyk testified a second time. (R. p. 346, line 9 – p. 372, line 23). The trial court made clear that it would consider all of the testimony presented during the immunity hearing as well as the *Denno* hearing prior to ruling on the admissibility of Kostyk’s in-car video (or any of Appellant’s statements subject to the *Denno* hearing<sup>8</sup>). (R. p. 154, line 3 – p. 155, line 23; R. p. 157, lines 17-23; R. p. 291, line 23 – p. 292, line 9).

Integral to the issue on appeal is the State’s framing of the portion of the in-car video it sought to introduce during its case-in-chief. (See State’s Exhibit 45; R. p. 364, lines 4-24). As direct evidence, the prosecution sought to introduce the video only up “to the part where he’s asked about warrants and [Appellant initially said] murder warrants.” (R. p. 363, lines 14-16; R. p. 513, lines 13-16). The following portion of the video, the State clarified, was being vetted only for impeachment.<sup>9</sup> (R. p. 363, lines 16-20, quoting State’s Exhibit 2). The State argued that in

---

<sup>7</sup> *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774 (1964).

<sup>8</sup> Appellant additionally sought suppression of statements made at a later point in State’s Exhibit 2, after he asked for an attorney, as well as a series of other statements made to officers from other jurisdictions on the same night and carrying over to the next day. (R. p. 539, line 20 – p. 543, line 20). While the Court ruled these additional statements admissible for the purposes sought, (*Id.*), none of these additional statements were introduced by the State at trial. While the State enunciated an intention to reserve the remainder of Appellant’s statements for impeachment, Appellant did not testify. The trial court indicated that a portion of the Aiken County in-car video prior to the attorney request was admissible only for impeachment. (R. p. 543, lines 2-3).

<sup>9</sup> The State later clarified that it did not seek to introduce any further portion of State’s Exhibit 2 during its case-in-chief, or even for impeachment should the opportunity arise:

Once past that, Your Honor, he’s placed into handcuffs at that point, and we move into the next question, which is something like you, you’ve murdered somebody, and the testimony from Sergeant Kostyk is yes. The State would claim that that is an impeachable, that it would not be used in its case in chief, but [for] impeachment purposes ‘cause [Kostyk’s] response is you murdered somebody and [Appellant’s] answer was yes. And then it’s I said yes, sir. Although there could be a question of voluntariness after that point, there’s nothing the State

this initial portion of the video, Kostyk did not engage Appellant in anything other than investigative detention. And, the State posited, the questions Kostyk asked Appellant during this time frame were permissible of a Terry stop, being that they were administrative questions rather than investigatory. (R. p. 513, line 9 – p. 514, line 8).

In favor of suppression, Appellant argued that the entire Terry stop was inaccurate and invalid, intimating he was in custody at the time Kostyk asked him the question about any outstanding warrants. R. p. 524, line 24 – p. 525, line 3). Appellant furthered that the officer did not have valid articulable facts to initiate a Terry stop upon Appellant. (R. p. 527, lines 3-12). Appellant argued the Terry stop occurred in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights. (R. p. 528, lines 9-17; R. p. 529, line 15 – p. 531, line 20). Also, that Kostyk was overly aggressive when he conducted the Terry stop. (R. p. 528, line 18 – p. 529, line 14).

In addition to these legal arguments, the trial court's ruling included consideration of the following: the testimony of all of the individuals who testified during the *Denno* hearing, Appellant's testimony, and the in-car video as contained in State's Exhibit 2. (R. p. 532, lines 3-6; R. p. 537, line 10 – p. 538, line 5). The trial court conducted a comparative analysis of *Terry v. Ohio, infra*, with statements made by Appellant to Kostyk prior to Appellant's request for counsel. (R. p. 538, lines 6-12).

The court found the Terry stop valid, further remarking that Kostyk's observations and view "track[ed] the same as Detective McFadden's did in *Terry v. Ohio*." (R. p. 538, lines 6-12). The court found "that at no time during the period of time at which certain identifying information was given and questions were asked to Mr. Walker by the Aiken deputy was Mr.

---

wants to use.

(R. p. 514, line 14 – p. 515, line 2).

Walker in custody.” (R. p. 538, lines 13-16). The court’s reasoning made specific reference to the conditions upon which Kostyk encountered Appellant:

As far as that tape is concerned that it was perhaps not a roadside but a closed -- a parking lot at a closed business with a garage type area, open garage type area, with a couple of picnic tables then a darkened location where the officer observed Mr. Walker, and then his attention is continually peaked, and then even more so upon him driving up and Mr. Walker coming towards him.

He asked – he, quite frankly, if you view that tape even up to the point of when he is handcuffed, Mr. Walker is handcuffed, the officer treats Mr. Walker very respectfully, calls him by his first name, David, of course has him identify himself, which Mr. Walker does. The officer senses are – I think he testified he was an eight-year veteran and a supervisor, road patrol deputy supervisor with Aiken County. He observed his behavior, searched him for weapons. He has him get in a position of, I guess I would call it, I don’t recall the officer’s exact terminology, of inferiority, I guess, of where he’s leaning on the front of the patrol car and his body weight is more on the patrol car and his feet are further back away. That would have been a front leaning position. And the officer barely has his hands on him at that point, and is talking into a [ ] shoulder microphone trying to get some information.

When he asked him about warrants, do you have any warrants, and Mr. Walker kind of turns his head to the right and answers yes or maybe. And he says well what for? And he says murder. The officer’s kind of surprised. Murder? Huh? Or huh, murder? And they attempt to continue to gain some information.

(R. p. 538, line 16 – p. 539, line 19).

Once ruled admissible, the State introduced as evidence a truncated version of State’s Exhibit 2, entered into evidence and published as State’s Exhibit 45, which includes only the portion sought for introduction in the case-in-chief. (R. p. 939, lines 13-24).

B. *The issue on appeal is unpreserved because Appellant renewed his objection to admission of the in-car video on a different basis than offered at the time of his original objection.*

When a court rules upon the admissibility of a piece of evidence *in limine*, proper issue preservation requires an objection contemporaneous to its introduction. *State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001). A motion to exclude evidence made at the beginning of trial does not preserve an issue for review because a motion *in limine* is not a final determination. *Id.* The moving party must make a contemporaneous objection when the evidence is offered for introduction before the jury. *State v. Simpson*, 325 S.C. 37, 479 S.E.2d 57 (1996).

The aggrieved party must also consistently object to the challenged evidence upon the same legal basis in order to preserve the objection for appellate review. “A party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). “[A]n objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.” *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001).

Moreover, an issue will be precluded from appellate review when the substance of the objection at trial does not comport with the specific issue raised on appeal. *State v. Dickman*, 341 S.C. 293, 295, 534 S.E.2d 268, 269 (2000); *State v. Tucker*, 319 S.C. 425, 462 S.E.2d 263 (1995). “A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar, supra; State v. Prioleau, supra.*

Also relevant to the preservation issue in this case is the standard governing *pro se* representation. “A *pro se* litigant who knowingly elects to represent himself assumes full responsibility for complying with substantive and procedural requirements of the law.” *State v.*

*Burton*, 356 S.C. 259, 265 n.5, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9 n.5 (2003); see *State v. Porter*, 389 S.C. 27, 38 and n.7, 698 S.E.2d 237, 243 and n.7 (Ct. App. 2010) (addressing issue preservation by *pro se* litigant with standby counsel). Where a *pro se* litigant fails to properly motion for suppression before the trial court, the issue will not be preserved for appellate review. *State v. Burton, supra* at 265, 589 S.E.2d at 9 (suppression issue not preserved for appeal where *pro se* defendant objected to the evidence only at the time he moved for a directed verdict). It follows that an issue cannot be preserved for review where the legal doctrine forming the basis for the *in limine* objection is not the same legal doctrine cited when the objection is renewed contemporaneous to the introduction of the challenged evidence at trial. *Id.*; *State v. Dunbar, supra*; *State v. Prioleau, supra*.

In this case, Appellant renewed his objection on an alternative basis than was previously argued. Pre-trial, Appellant objected to the validity of the Terry stop and posited that Kostyk acted aggressively, engaging Appellant in custodial interrogation such that the in-car video was not admissible. (R. p. 524, line 24 – p. 525, line 3; R. p. 528, line 18 – p. 529, line 14). He also argued that there existed no grounds for investigative detention such that Kostyk stopped him in violation of the Fourth Amendment. (R. p. 527, lines 3-12; R. p. 528, lines 9-17; R. p. 529, line 15 – p. 531, line 20). But when the State sought to introduce the in-car video at trial, Appellant objected on the basis of relevance. (R. p. 938, line 10 – p. 939, line 12).

Appellant did not present the same legal bases for objection when the in-car video was introduced at trial. Because Appellant cannot argue one issue at trial and another on appeal, Appellant failed to preserve the issue presented for appellate review. *State v. Burton, supra*; *State v. Dunbar, supra*; *State v. Prioleau, supra*.

C. *Kostyk articulated particularized facts in support of reasonable suspicion justifying a Terry stop of Appellant and Kostyk's testimony is corroborated by his in-car video such that the record supports the trial court's admission of Appellant's statements made at the time Kostyk came upon Appellant.*

“The Fourth Amendment applies to all seizures of a person, including only a brief detention.” *State v. Anderson*, 415 S.C. 441, 447, 783 S.E.2d 51, 54 (2016). A person “can be seized under the Fourth Amendment without being arrested under state law,” and not all seizures constitute unlawful detention under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 503, 697 S.E.2d 593, 596 (2010) (citing *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 16, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1877 (1968)). A Fourth Amendment seizure not amounting to an arrest may occur “when a reasonable person, in view of all the circumstances of a particular case, would not believe he was free to leave.” *Id.* (citing *Michigan v. Chesternut*, 486 U.S. 567, 573, 108 S.Ct. 1975, 1979 (1988)). These brief detentions by a deputy are justified and proper within the boundaries of the Fourth Amendment under certain circumstances.

“A police officer may stop and briefly detain and question a person for investigative purposes, without treading upon his Fourth Amendment rights, when the officer has a reasonable suspicion supported by articulable facts, short of probable cause for arrest, that the person is involved in criminal activity.” *State v. Woodruff*, 344 S.C. 537, 546, 544 S.E.2d 290, 295 (Ct. App. 2001). An officer’s determination of the existence of reasonable suspicion requires consideration of the “whole picture” upon which the detainment is based. *Id.* “And in justifying the particular intrusion the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion.” *Terry v. Ohio*, *supra* at 21, 88 S. Ct. at 1880; *State v. Woodruff*, *supra* (reasonable suspicion “requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of

criminal activity”). The analysis considers the totality of the circumstances. *State v. Culbreath*, 300 S.C. 232, 236, 387 S.E.2d 255, 257 (1990), *abrogated on other grounds by Horton v. California*, 496 U.S. 128, 110 S.Ct. 2301 (1990).

If during the stop “the officer’s suspicions are confirmed or further aroused, the stop then may be prolonged and the scope enlarged.” *Id.*; *State v. Corley*, 383 S.C. 232, 240, 679 S.E.2d 187, 191 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff’d as modified*, 392 S.C. 125, 708 S.E.2d 217 (2011) (modified to determination that the vehicle stop was justified based on presence of reasonable suspicion, not probable cause). An officer may question the individual engaged in the investigative detention so long as the scope and duration of the stop remains “strictly tied to and justified by the circumstances that rendered its initiation proper.” *State v. Corley*, *supra* at 241, 679 S.E.2d at 192; *Cf. State v. Woodruff*, *supra* at 546, 544 S.E.2d 290 (“Generally, the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have probable cause to believe a traffic violation has occurred.”).

Since the officer is investigating whether criminal activity is afoot, the officer may take steps during the brief detainment to investigate the circumstances provoking suspicion. “Typically, this means that the officer may ask the detainee a moderate number of questions to determine his identity and to try to obtain information confirming or dispelling the officer’s suspicions.” *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 439, 104 S. Ct. 3138, 3150 (1984). Additionally, “the taking of standard identification information does not violate *Miranda*” when done during a Terry stop. *United States v. Taylor*, 799 F.2d 126, 128 (4th Cir. 1986). If, during the Terry stop, the suspect gives incriminating information in response to a ministerial question, suppression is not required because “the officers had no reasonable expectation that their questions would be likely to elicit such information.” *Id.*

When engaged in a Terry stop based upon articulable facts supporting reasonable suspicion, the suspect is not considered to be “in custody” or to have unwittingly subscribed to “custodial interrogation” for Fourth Amendment purposes—even if few persons would feel free to either depart from the situation or disobey the officer. *State v. Corley*, *supra* at 243, 679 S.E.2d at 187 (citing *United States v. Sullivan*, 138 F.3d 126, 130 (4th Cir. 1998)). *Miranda* is not required by this situation. *Id.* “The comparatively nonthreatening character of detentions of this sort explains the absence of any suggestion in our opinions that Terry stops are subject to the dictates of *Miranda*.” *Berkemer v. McCarty*, *supra* at 440, 104 S. Ct. at 3150.

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